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Highlights

Highlights of the year include: 

• The successful float of Clean Seas 
Tuna Limited in December 2005.

• Development and expansion of 
markets into Europe and The USA.

• Improved farm gate returns from 
exports of Kingfish and Mulloway.

• Successfully applied for a $4.�5 million AusIndustry 
Commercial Ready Grant to assist in the 
development of our Tuna breeding program.

• Started building the Arno Bay Tuna 
broodstock facility in January 2006.

• Signed an exclusivity agreement with UNI-
Aqua A/S of Denmark, a major global player 
in fish farming and water treatment.

• Started due diligence with a view to 
purchase the assets of South Australian 
Aquaculture Management Pty Ltd.

• Achieved an after tax profit of $75,000 
for the year ended 30 June 2006.

Clean Seas is committed to achieving the goals it set out when  
we floated. This year has been a year of implementation and  
over achieving our targets. We move forward into 2007 with  
a great deal of confidence.
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Chairman’s Report

Dear Fellow Shareholder,  

It is my great pleasure to introduce the first 
Annual Report of Clean Seas Tuna Limited. I have 
considerable satisfaction to be able to begin by 
observing that the company is well ahead of 
the targets and expectations that we aspired to 
when we listed on the ASX in December 2005.

It is several years now since Peter Drucker, 
economist and Nobel Laureate wrote, “Aquaculture, 
not the Internet, represents the most promising 
investment opportunity of the 2�st Century”.  
That judgment was based on his perceptions 
of wild seafood harvest supply and persistently 
rising market demand. Drucker’s view is proving, 
inexorably, to have been correct. I have been 
involved in the seafood and aquaculture sector for 
over 45 years yet I have never been as confident 
in the future of our sector as I am today. I have 
never had so much reason for that confidence. 

• Worldwide, wild fish resources are 
diminishing steadily in some cases rapidly.

• Worldwide, consumption of seafood is steadily 
increasing in many cases quite dramatically.

• Catches of Tuna are declining again this year 
in the Mediterranean due to over-fishing, 
pollutants and health concerns. Scientists 
believe the resource is doomed and will 
collapse in the foreseeable future.

• The Mexican tuna harvest is unreliable on account 
of environmental factors and over-fishing. The 
tonnage harvested is continuing to decline. 

• In the Southern Hemisphere, over-fishing of the 
SBT resource is being vigorously addressed by 
Pacific governments, harvests are being severely 
restrained and market prices are being driven up. 

Apart from the problem of diminishing supply, 
however, there is a steadily increasing acceptance 
of the worldwide research findings on the positive 
health impacts of seafood and especially fish-oils.  
This is having a marked impact on demand 
for species high in beneficial oil content such 
as Kingfish and Tuna. This merely enhances 
the demand factors referred to above. 

It is clear that this demand pressure cannot be 
satisfied from the depleting wild fish resources. 
It is also clear that it will not be met by the 
existing world aquaculture capacity. Only offshore 
aquaculture can readily make a significant response 
to this worldwide demand phenomenon.

Coming closer to home, current projections suggest 
that Australia alone will need � million more tonnes 
of seafood annually by the year 2050 – or 250,000  
tonnes more by the year 20�2. That is only six years 
from now. When we consider that some 80% of all 
Australian seafood consumption is already imported, 
it is clear that there is already a firm domestic 
base to reinforce the Clean Seas business case.

Our Response
In our brief time as a public company we have,  
I believe, already demonstrated that we have the 
necessary understanding and experience of the 
fundamentals of offshore aquaculture necessary 
to build a highly profitable, world class, business. 
We have as well, the competence, commitment 
and confidence required to achieve that aim.

Clean Seas Tuna continues to work closely with 
the Stehr Group to develop the fish infrastructure 
necessary to achieve the vision set out in the 
prospectus. The targets set in the CST 2005 
prospectus are being steadily achieved and, in a 
number of instances, they are ahead of plan:

• The Arno Bay marina complex is 
already built and operational.

• Sealing of the main road into the Arno Bay 
Hatchery complex has been completed.

• The Kingfish and Mulloway Hatchery at 
Arno Bay has been substantially upgraded 
to allow increased production.

• We have created a smooth and efficient cold chain 
with intricate logistics to be able to harvest and 
transport inside 70 hours from harvesting to plate 
to anywhere in the world – Asia, Europe and USA.

• We have designed and commenced the building 
of a large harvesting barge which will enable the 
harvesting of some 20 tonnes of fish per night.

• We have started onshore conditioning of SBT 
broodstock from the sea. This development is  
on target. 

• We are well advanced in the building of 
the World’s first specialist SBT propagation 
facility. This work is on target. 

• We have made solid progress in developing 
exports into Europe and the USA. Both 
markets are presently under-supplied 
and offer huge growth potential.

The People
Clean Seas Tuna Limited is, like any business, only as 
good as the people whose creativity, commitment 
and innovation take it forward. The constant 
enhancement of our human capital, both internally 
and through business alliances, is a key component 
of our vision. In the year under review we have:

• Negotiated an exclusivity contract with world 
renown recirculation company, UniAqua of 
Denmark, for all of its intellectual property and 
advice for the propagation of Southern Bluefin 
Tuna , Kingfish and Mulloway for a period of six 
years. UniAqua are the supplier of the equipment 
for the Tuna Hatchery facilities at Arno Bay.

• Employed a specialist Broodstock Manager 
to take charge of the new broodstock 
facilities referred to above.

• Established close liaison with scientists in 
Europe, Israel and Kinki University of Japan

• Sent Dr.Abigail Elizur, a member of the 
Clean Seas Science Advisory Board, to a 
European scientific Tuna meeting in Malta

• Ensured all key hatchery personnel gained 
further familiarization with Northern Blue 
Fin Tuna and Yellow Fin Tuna propagation 
projects in Japan and Panama.

The Growth
It is important to note here that the Directors 
have sought to further secure the strength of the 
company’s future by an important acquisition 
opportunity. At the time of writing we have 
signed contracts for a 85 day due diligence process 
to acquire the assets, markets and standing 
stock of SAAM (South Australian Aquaculture 
Management Ltd.). If this acquisition proceeds it 
will provide Clean Seas Tuna Limited with access 
to a second hatchery and effective control of 
Australian Kingfish production. The strategic 
significance of this for the underlying cash-
flows of the company is considerable indeed.

Conclusion
Clean Seas Tuna Limited is a young company 
in its early developing stages which will make 
its mark in the Australian and, indeed, world 
markets. Although young, it comes with a strong 
and experienced heritage in the seafood sector. 
It is managed by people with proven track 
records and guided by Directors who know and 
understand the fishing, aquaculture and Primary 
Industry sectors. I believe that our progress to 
date justifies my confidence in our future.

Sincerely,

Hagen Stehr AO 
Chairman 
Clean Seas Tuna Limited
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Managing Director’s Report

Dear Fellow Investor,

It is with some pride that I am able to present 
this report on Clean Seas’ performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2006.

Overview
The 2006 financial year was Clean Seas first year 
as a public company.  Having been listed on the 
Australian Stock Exchange in December 2005 the 
Directors, management and staff of Clean Seas have 
worked hard to repay our shareholders faith in us.

In summary, we are pleased to be able to report to you 
the following:

• Clean Seas Tuna has made an initial profit 
in FY2006 of $0.075 million, up from a loss 
of $0.42 million over the prior year; 

• The construction and commissioning of the 
Southern Bluefin Tuna (“SBT”) broodstock facility 
at Arno Bay is scheduled for completion on 30 
September 2006, and SBT selected broodstock will 
be transferred to the facility during October 2006; 

• We are currently conducting due diligence on 
the acquisition of South Australian Aquaculture 
Management Pty Ltd group (“SAAM”);

• Our sales of Kingfish and Mulloway continue to grow 
both in price per kilogram and sales volume; and

• Clean Seas continues to attract high quality 
people to its team.

FY2006 Results
The Profit after Tax for FY2006 of $0.075 million 
was ahead of expectations.  The main reasons 
for the out-performance were: 

• Growout rates for fish being above those forecast;

• Stock losses due to disease being 
less than forecast; and

• Sales prices (and hence fish stock valuations) 
being above those forecast.

Corporate Strategy 
When Clean Seas launched its prospectus in 
November 2005, we set out three clear objectives:

• To continue to breed and growout 
Kingfish and Mulloway;

• To construct an onshore SBT broodstock 
facility at Arno Bay; and

• Once the SBT facility was complete, 
to breed then growout SBT.

Our strategy is to develop competitive businesses  
in three main industry segments: Kingfish,  
Mulloway and SBT.  

Yellowtail Kingfish & Mulloway
During the course of the year Clean Seas continued 
the growth of our main finfish species, Kingfish 
(Seriola Lalandi).  Clean Seas hatchery produced 
350,000 Kingfish fingerlings in FY2006.  200,000 
of these fingerlings were sold to the Stehr Group 
and the remaining �50,000 continue to be owned 
by Clean Seas. These now juvenile fish are growing 
well and will be for sale from April 2007 onwards.

Clean Seas plans to double output of Kingfish 
fingerlings for FY2007 to 700,000. Clean Seas 
will retain ownership of 450,000 fingerlings. 
Our plan is for 200,000 to be sold to the Stehr 
Group and 50,000 to an external party.  The 
2007 Kingfish retained by Clean Seas will 
be for sale from April 2008 onwards.

Prices for Kingfish consistently remain strong.  
Trading conditions in the year under review 
were favourable.  Our Kingfish sales into 
the European markets are showing positive 
growth with excellent farm gate prices.

The United States market has readily accepted 

our Kingfish products. Regular weekly shipments 

are now under way. Sales growth in both East 

and West Coast markets in the US shows great 

potential with good returns for the future. South 

East Asia continues to be steady and reliable. New 

markets such as Russia and China are showing keen 

interest in our product as Clean Seas begins to sell 

product to those new markets on a regular basis.

Exports accounted for approximately 60% of 

Clean Seas sales by value in FY2006.  This figure 

is expected to increase in FY2007 as the volume 

of our Kingfish production also increases.

The domestic market also remains strong.  During 

the course of the year we negotiated a new 

contract with Simplot’s Australian subsidiary, John 

West.  Simplot distribute Clean Seas’ Kingfish as 

portions in MAP packaging to Coles supermarkets.

As part of the process of expanding our Kingfish 

business, Clean Seas is examining the potential to 

acquire the assets of SAAM, a Kingfish producer 

with its hatchery at Port Augusta and growout 

facilities at Fitzgerald Bay.  While due diligence 

is still to be completed, our preliminary analysis 

suggests that there are a number of opportunities 

available to Clean Seas from combining our own 

and SAAM’s Kingfish operations, including:

• Economies of scale from a combined operation 

with Clean Seas producing all Kingfish 

fingerlings for the Australian industry, with 

approximately 60% of production being owned 

and controlled by Clean Seas, 30% by the Stehr 

Group and the remaining �0% by an independent 

grower also operating from Fitzgerald Bay;

• Owning the only two Kingfish hatcheries in 

Australia, and providing greater flexibility for 

the purpose designed Arno Bay hatchery to 

concentrate primarily on SBT production once 

successful spawnings have been achieved;

• Diversity of production thereby lessening disease 
risk from having only a single operation;

• Near term returns from the sale of SAAM’s 
Kingfish by our own marketing team;

• Access to additional growout licences.

Development of our Mulloway (Argyrosomus 
Japonicus) business has been in accordance 
with prospectus forecasts, with some �50,000 
juvenile fish being purchased from the Stehr 
Group in December 2005 and grown out 
along with our Kingfish by them, on behalf 
of Clean Seas, under the Fish Husbandry 
Agreement described in the prospectus.

The leading Mulloway reached market size in April 
2006, when sales commenced, and prices and 
volumes achieved are broadly in line with internal 
budgets. Market acceptance in both Europe and the 
USA of trial shipments and improving prices have 
encouraged us to develop a targeted research and 
development program to try and improve the first 
�8 month growth rates, which would materially 
improve the profitability of this promising species. 
Given hatchery constraints, as a consequence of 
planned increase in Kingfish production and the 
necessity to plan for SBT production in early 2007, 
no Mulloway fingerlings will be produced during 
the 2006/07 summer. At this stage it is intended to 
reintroduce the species into Clean Seas’ hatchery 
production runs in the 2007/08 summer.

During the year, we signed an agreement with 
Uni-Aqua of Denmark (the designers of the new 
SBT recirculation broodstock facility) to evaluate 
the potential of lowering the Kingfish growout 
period to the preferred market size of 4kg+.  Uni-
Aqua believes it possible to materially reduce Clean 
Seas Kingfish growout period from �8-24 months 
to �2-�5 months.  If this were able to be achieved, 
it would lead to significant improvements in 
productivity from the existing plant and workforce, 
improving net returns, as well as allowing potential 
increases in annual production volumes.
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With the lower temperatures Kingfish have slow 
growth in winter months when at sea at both Arno 
Bay and Fitzgerald Bay.  The Uni-Aqua proposal 
involves a $0.3 million trial recirculation growout 
of Kingfish utilising on shore tanks, coupled with 
parallel trials utilising SAAM's Port Augusta hot 
water channel.  The preliminary results of these trials 
should be available in the fourth quarter of FY2007.

Southern Bluefin Tuna  
(Thunnus Maccoyii)
Stage � of the $5.9 million SBT on shore 
recirculation broodstock system went into 
construction on 9 January 2006, and the 
construction and commissioning stage of the 
two tank system is scheduled for handover by 
Uni-Aqua to Clean Seas in early October.

Planning for the transfer of the selected broodstock 
is finalised and the transfer will be completed during 
October 2006. Protocols, support facilities and 
personnel for the initial spawning are now all agreed, 
and your Directors are optimistic that a successful 
initial spawning will occur in early calendar 2007.

The industry thematics for SBT have 
improved materially since the release of the 
company’s IPO prospectus, in particular:-

• The average selling price for farmed 
SBT for current season fish improved by 
approximately JPY300-JPY400 per kg gg 
over the previous season’s prices.

• Overfishing of Japan’s worldwide SBT quota 
over the last decade is currently being addressed 
by the worldwide CCSBT body, with Japanese 
Government co-operation. The cessation of this 
overfishing has the potential to lead to an increase 
in demand for aquaculture produced NBT and SBT.

• Continuing pollution, in the Mediterranean 
has helped shift market demand to 
farmed and aquaculture produced fish in 
pollution free production areas, such as the 
product being produced by Clean Seas.

The commercialisation of the SBT life cycle project 
will necessarily require further upgrades to the 
SBT broodstock facility and hatchery as advised 
in the prospectus. Some cost overruns have been 

experienced in completing stage � of the new 
broodstock facility, primarily as a consequence of the 
general Australia wide increase in construction costs 
and final design parameters to accommodate future 
expansion as we move to full commercialisation.

Directors believe Clean Seas plans for the 
development of a full aquaculture production cycle 
of SBT at Arno Bay in South Australia are timely.

FY2007 Strategy
In implementing our business plan for FY2007, 
Clean Seas proposes the following:

• Preparing and then, if appropriate, implementing 
a combined operational plan for SAAM and  
Clean Seas’ Kingfish operations;

• Evaluating the potential to shorten grow 
out times for Kingfish to market size;

• Successful transfer of SBT broodstock to 
the new onshore facility, and an anticipated 
initial SBT spawning early in 2007;

• Continuing to be product innovators and 
market leaders in the aquaculture industry; 

• Growing revenue and earnings per 
share through a combination of organic 
growth and acquisitions; and

• Improving gross margin contribution for Kingfish 
and Mulloway by maintaining current strong 
prices and lowering production costs as a 
consequence of increased volumes, improved 
FCRs, and targeted efficiency improvements 
for existing personnel and improved hardware 
which is being progressively acquired.

With the rapid growth of Clean Seas existing 
juvenile Mulloway and Kingfish, and the proposed 
acquisition of additional product via the acquisition 
of SAAM, it is anticipated that fingerling and finfish 
revenues will exceed $�0 million in FY2007 from 
the $0.867 million achieved in FY2006, noting that 
finfish sales by Clean Seas only commenced in 
January 2006. The increased production and sales 
volumes are expected to lead to a proportionate 
increase in the profitability of Clean Seas for FY2007.

Note Interest

As outlined in the prospectus, Clean Seas continues 
to pay the 9% coupon to noteholders on their 
converting notes. The next half yearly 2.25 cent 
interest payment, on 50 cent 9% p.a. convertible 
note, is payable as at 30 September 2006. 

Our People

Clean Seas seeks to be the employer of choice 
in both the Spencer Gulf region and the 
aquaculture industry.  We want to be able to 
attract a high calibre of individual who wants 
to work in a growing and profitable business.

Some of the ways in which Clean Seas seeks to 
differentiate ourselves from our competitors is the 
quality of our people and our business’ operational 
culture.  We encourage our managers to direct 
and operate their units with a high degree of 
autonomy. We find that employees react well in 
this environment and consistently initiate change 
and improvements to our common advantage.

In FY2006 we welcomed a number of new 
employees to Clean Seas as a result of the growth 
of our business.  Some of the Clean Seas staff, 
including Stehr Group staff providing Clean 
Seas with services under the Fish Husbandry 
and Administrative Services Agreements, 
I would like to especially thank are: 

• Frank Knight, Company Secretary; 

• Anthony Ellin, Financial Controller; 

• Morten Deichman, Hatchery Manager;  

• Ric Emes, Marketing Manager;

• Bill Jones, Logistics Manager;

• Joe Cuira, Health Manager; 

• Tony Octoman, Marine Operations Arno Bay; and

• Robbie Staunton, Marine Operations Port Lincoln.

In FY2007 with the proposed acquisition of 
SAAM due to occur and having met each of 
SAAM’s current employees, I am sure Clean 
Seas will be an even stronger organisation.  We 
look forward to welcoming them on Board.

Summary

As at the date of this, our first Annual Report, 
we are pleased to be able to advise that:

(i) the Kingfish business is above budget 
on all key performance indicators;

(ii) we are examining near term growth 
opportunities for Kingfish production;

(iii) the Mulloway business remains a work 
in progress with the growout period 
still requiring additional effort;

(iv) Wild catch SBT prices are above 
prospectus estimates; and 

(v) Stage � of the SBT broodstock 
facility is nearing completion.

My focus, for the year ahead as Managing Director 
of Clean Seas, is to firstly seek to lower production 
costs, accelerate growth rates and to at least 
maintain current farm gate prices then secondly, 
translate those results to improved earnings for all 
shareholders.  With the help of Clean Seas Board 
and staff, the company will deliver on these goals.

FY2006 was a pivotal year for Clean Seas.  The 
change from a private to a public company was 
completed. We have significantly grown our 
Kingfish business.  We have built an SBT breeding 
facility.  We have negotiated a potential acquisition 
and are trialling ways of shortening Kingfish grow 
out periods.

The year ahead will be a challenging one with the 
proposed acquisition of SAAM and SBT breeding 
facility being commissioned, however I am sure that 
the sound foundations put in place this year will lead 
to an improved and appropriate result for FY2007.

Thank you for your support.

Marcus A. Stehr 
Managing Director
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Board of Directors

Mr. Marcus Stehr 
(Managing Director)

Appointed as a Director since incorporation in 
September 2000, term in office - 6 years. He holds 
a Master Class 4 Skippers Certificate and was a 
member of the Co-operative Research Centre's 
Southern Bluefin Tuna Steering Committee.

Sir Tipene O'Regan 
(Non Executive Director)

Appointed to the Board in September 2004, term 
in office - 2 years, presently he is Chairman of 
the Health, Safety and Environment Committee 
and Remuneration Committee as well as 
being a member of the Audit Committee.

He is a director of a number of companies in 
the tourism, agriculture and natural resource 
sectors. He was the founding chairman of the 
Sealord Group of Companies, has been a member 
of the NZ Fishing Industry Board and a director 
of the NZ Seafood Industry Council. He was 
previously a Board member of the NZ Broadcasting 
Corporation and a director of Television NZ Ltd.

The names of directors and officers who held office during the financial year and until the date of this report are:

Mr. Hagen Stehr AO
(Non Executive Chairman)

Appointed to the Board acting as Chairman 
since incorporation in September 2000, term 
in office - 6 years, presently, he is a member 
of the Audit Committee and of the Health, 
Safety and Environment Committee. 

He is currently a Board member of the South 
Australian Government's Aquaculture Advisory 
Council as well as Chairman of the South Australian 
Fishing and Seafood Industry Training Council. He 
was a founding member of Australian Bight Seafood 
in �97�, a Board member of the South Australian 
Fishing Co-operative Limited (SAFCOL) in �974 and 
a founding member of the Australian Tuna Boat 
Owners Association. Hagen has been chair of the 
South Australian Marine Finfish Farmers Association, 
the peak body for the sea farming industry.

Mr. Ian McLachlan AO 
(Non Executive Director)

Appointed to the Board in September 2005, 
term in office - � year, presently he is Chairman 
of the Audit Committee as well as being a 
member of the Health, Safety and Environment 
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

He is currently president of the South Australian 
Cricket Association, Chairman of Australian 
Wool Innovation and a Board member of Cricket 
Australia. A graduate of Cambridge University, he 
was a member of the House of Representatives 
from �990 to �998. He has been Chairman of the 
Australian Wool Industry Future Directions Task 
Force and National Farmers Federation Industrial 
Committee, President of the National Farmers 
Federation and the Wool Council of Australia, 
deputy Chairman of the South Australian Brewing 
Company, Director of Elder IXL and a member of 
the Australian Meat and Livestock Corporation.

Mr. Paul Robinson
(Alternate Director)

Appointed Alternate Director for Hagen Stehr AO 
in December 2005, term in office 9 months. He is 
a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants, 
with fifteen years experience as a partner of a 
leading international accounting practice. He is 
Chairman and non executive Director of a number 
of private property and investment companies. 
He was appointed a non executive director of 
Australian Tuna Fisheries (the majority owner 
of Clean Seas Tuna Limited) in May 2006.

Mr. Frank Knight
(Company Secretary)

Appointed Company Secretary in February 2006. 
Prior to joining Clean Seas Tuna Limited, he was 
Financial Controller at Saab Systems Pty Limited.  
He is a graduate of the University of South Australia 
with a Bachelor of Business and is a Certified 
Practicing Accountant.
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Our Species
Southern Bluefin Tuna 
Originating from the waters off Port Lincoln 
in South Australia, Southern Bluefin Tuna has 
medium flavoured flesh, which is in demand 
for sashimi and sushi. Southern Bluefin Tuna 
is harvested from February to September each 
year using the low stress ‘Ike Jime’ harvest 
method for maximum flesh quality.

Minimal handling from the ocean pens to 
export-approved processing plants ensures 
high quality and improved shelf life.

Kingfish
Kingfish has white, firm flesh and is renowned 
for its high level of Omega 3 and other beneficial 
fatty acids. It is a large, pelagic fish, which 
presented many of the challenges and potential 
solutions to breeding Southern Bluefin Tuna. 

In southern Japan, approximately �80,000 
tonnes per annum of the three principal species 
of kingfish are farmed.  Seriloa lalandi – the 
species produced in Australia  – is purseined as 
juveniles in the South China Sea and are then 
transported to southern Japan for grow-out. The 
farmed Japanese kingfish are then sold into the 
sashimi and fine-dining restaurant  markets.

Mulloway
Mulloway – a natural inhabitant of South 
Australia – is a firm white-fleshed fish that can 
be cooked, smoked or eaten raw sashimi-style. 
It was sold in large quantity into the Australian 
domestic market in the �930's prior to locks 
being introduced to the lower River Murray, 
decimating their natural environment. 

Also known as Butterfish and Jewfish, Mulloway 
came close to disappearing some 20 years 
ago following its over-use for fish and chip 
consumption. It is now in-demand from top chefs 
and fine dining restaurants across the world.

Various studies and research 
have shown that people who 
regularly consume fish gain 
major health benefits.

Fish rich in Omega-3 fatty acids are known to 
contribute to the health of our brain tissue and 
the retina in the eye. In addition, studies have 
found breastfed babies of mothers who eat fish 
have improved eyesight, which is likely to be 
the result of Omega-3 fatty acids transmitted 
in breast milk. Research has also shown that 
eating fish during pregnancy may help reduce 
the risk of delivering a premature baby.

Eating fish can also help prevent the development 
and severity of diseases and disorders including:

• Asthma

• Cancer

• Cardiovascular disease

• Dementia

• Depression

• Diabetes

Omega-3 fatty acids
The recommended daily amount of Omega-3 fatty 
acids from fish is 200-600mg and the best source  
of Omega-3 fatty acids is fish, rather than fish  
oil capsules.

Fish oil and ADHD
A combination of fish oil and evening primrose oil 
capsules can help children with attention deficit 
hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), a 2005 study by the 
University of South Australia and CSIRO has revealed.

Healthy Eating

SBT

<

Hagen Stehr

<

cutlet portions

<

southern bluefin tuna

<

kingfish cutlet portions

<

mulloway cutlet portions

<
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Governance Statement
The Clean Seas Tuna Limited Board is responsible 
for the overall corporate governance of the entity. 
Given the current size and status of the company, 
responsibilities that are normally associated with 
committees in larger organisations remain with 
the main Clean Seas Board. The Board considers 
that Corporate Governance includes not only 
compliance with the specific requirements of the 
Corporations Act, Australian Stock Exchange Listing 
Rules and Company Constitution, but also the 
principles of ethical behavior, risk management 
and optimising company performance.

In particular, during the reporting period, the Board:

• promoted ethical and responsible  
decision making 

• ensured compliance with the Corporations 
Act, Accounting Standards, ASX Listing 
Rules and all other appropriate laws

• ensured compliance with aquaculture 
and environmental regulation

• set and reviewed strategic direction 
and approved the annual budget

• established goals for management and 
monitored the achievement of those goals

• monitored the operating and financial 
performance of the company

• monitored the performance of the Board, 
the Managing Director and executive 
management and ensured a clear link 
between performance and remuneration

• ensured that an appropriate overall framework of 
internal control was in place to facilitate efficient 
decision making and monitor business risk

• ensured that capital markets and s 
shareholders were fully informed of material 
developments through effective compliance 
with continuous disclosure best practice

• recognised the legitimate interests 
of all stakeholders

• established an Audit Committee, a 
Remuneration Committee and a Health, 
Safety and Environment Committee

Audit Committee
The audit committee was established in October 
2005. The members comprise non-executive 
Director Mr Ian McLachlan AO, Chairman, and 
non-executive Director, Sir Tipene O'Regan. It's 
role is documented in an Audit Committee Charter 
approved by the Board of Directors and presently 
available to all shareholders upon request but will 
be posted on the Clean Seas website in the future.

In accordance with the Charter, all members 
of the Committee are Non-Executive 
Directors. The role of the Committee is to:

• monitor business risk through an 
appropriate internal control framework

• assist the Board in fulfilling its audit, 
accounting and reporting obligations

• monitor compliance with legal 
and statutory obligations

• monitor the performance and independence 
of the external auditor and the provision of 
additional services by the auditor's firm

• ensure appropriate ethical standards 
for the management of Clean Seas

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was established 
in October 2005. The members comprise non-
executive Director Sir Tipene O'Regan, Chairman, 
and non-executive Director, Mr Ian McLachlan AO. 
The Remuneration Committee advises the Board 
on remuneration policies and practices generally 
and reviews and makes specific recommendations 
on the remuneration package and other terms 
of employment of the Managing Director and 
other senior executives and Non-Executive 
Directors. The Clean Seas Chairman and Managing 
Director are invited to Remuneration Committee 
meetings as required to discuss management 
performance and remuneration packages.

Health, Safety and Environment Committee
The Health, Safety and Environment Committee 
was established in October 2005. The members 
comprise non-executive Director Sir Tipene 
O'Regan, Chairman, non-executive Director, 
Mr Ian McLachlan AO and non-executive 
Director Mr Hagen Stehr AO. In addition, the 
Committee will involve the Managing Director, 
the Chair of the Research and Technical Advisory 
Committee, the Hatchery Manager and other 
such persons as deemed appropriate. 

ASX Corporate Governance Council Best 
Practice Recommendations 
The Board has considered each of the ten 
Principles of Good Corporate Governance and 
Best Practice Recommendations and sets out 
below departures from the recommendations 
and reasons for those departures.

As at the date of this report, Clean Seas website 
is under construction. At present, all Charters of 

Committees and corporate governance policies 
are available to shareholders upon request but 
the company intends posting these items on it's 
website in the near future. The directors believe 
that the majority of the other information in 
relation to Best Practice Recommendations 
is provided in this Annual Report.

Best Practice Recommendation 2.� : A majority 
of the Board should be independent directors.

The Directors believe that the company does not 
comply with this Recommendation for the follow 
reasons. Given the size and status of Clean Seas, 
a four member Board is seem as sufficient at the 
present moment. The company's existing Board 
is made up of people with many years experience 
in primary production with the majority of 
that experience within the fishing industry. 

These people have the expertise to set the 
strategic direction of the company and the 
access and industry knowledge to question 
executive management. Mr Hagen Stehr and 
Mr Marcus Stehr have major interests in the 
company which the Board believes aligns 
general shareholders' aspirations with theirs.

The Directors consider Sir Tipene O'Regan 
and Mr Ian McLachlan AO to be independent 
and that Mr Hagen Stehr AO and Mr Marcus 
Stehr are not independent by virtue of their 
substantial interests in the company. 

Best Practice Recommendation 2.2 : The 
Chairperson should be an independent director.

The Clean Seas Chairperson is Mr Hagen Stehr 
who is not considered independent by virtue of his 
substantial holding in the company. The company 
does not comply with the Recommendation. 

Best Practice Recommendation 2.4 :The Board 
should establish a nomination committee.

The Directors believe that the company's size 
does not warrant a nomination committee. 
Responsibilities normally associated with such a 
committee in larger organisations remain with 
the main Clean Seas Board and so the company 
does not comply with this Recommendation.

200kg gg SBT

<



�4 �5

Best Practice Recommendation 2.5 :
Provide the information indicated in 
"Guide to reporting on Principle 2"

The majority of the information in relation 
to Best Practice Recommendation 2.5 
is provided in this Annual Report. 

In addition: there is a procedure enabling 
members of the Board to seek independent 
professional advise at Clean Seas expense.

Best Practice Recommendation 4.3 :
Structure the Audit Committees that it 
consists of: at least 3 members.

All Independent Directors are members 
of the Committee, but as there are only 2 
independent Directors so the company does 
not comply with this Recommendation.

Best Practice Recommendation 9.2 :The Board 
should establish a remuneration committee: which 
should consist of a minimum of three members, 
the majority being independent directors.

All Independent Directors are members 
of the Committee, but as there are only 2 
independent Directors so the company does 
not comply with this Recommendation.

Best Practice Recommendation �0.�: 
Establish and disclose a code of conduct 
to guide compliance with legal and other 
obligations to legitimate stakeholders.

The Board believes that the company's various 
internal policies already cover areas such as the 
roles of the Board and executives, disclosure, 
employment practices and how shareholder value 
will be produced and protected. The company 
does not believe that it fully complies with this 
Recommendation as the current policies are 
not fully documented. Once fully documented, 
it will be posted on the company's website.

The Directors present their report together with the financial report of Clean Seas Tuna Limited for the year 
ended 30 June 2006, and the auditor's report there on.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the economic entity during the financial year was the propagation of Kingfish 
producing fingerlings for sale as well as the growout of Kingfish and Mulloway. In addition, the company 
commenced a  project with the aim to commercialise the production of Southern Bluefin Tuna. 

In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the entity that 
occurred during the financial year under review not otherwise disclosed in this Directors' Report or the Annual 
Financial Report.

Operating Results
The net profit after providing for income tax for the financial year attributable to the members of Clean Seas 
Tuna Limited amounted to $74,844. 

Dividends Paid or Recommended
The Directors have declared that no dividend be paid for the year ended 30th June 2006.   

Directors Meetings
During the reporting period, there were 7 scheduled meetings of Directors, 3 scheduled formal meetings of the 
Health, Safety and Environment Committee, 3 scheduled formal meetings of the Audit Committee and 3 formal  
scheduled meetings of the Remuneration Committee held.    

 Directors Health, Safety, Audit  Remuneration 
 Meeting Environment 
 Held/Attended Held/Attended Held/Attended Held/Attended

H Stehr 7/(6)* 3/(3)*  

M Stehr 7/(7) 3/(3)

T O'Regan 7/(6) 3/(3) 3/(3) 3/(3)

I McLachlan 7/(6) 3/(3) 3/(3) 3/(3)

*Paul Robinson attended one Directors' Meeting and one Health, Safetly and Environment Committee Meeting as alternate for Mr Hagen Stehr.

Interests in shares and options of the entity

As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares, converting notes and options of Clean 
Seas Tuna Limited were: 
  Ordinary Shares Converting  Options  
   Notes  over Ordinary 
    Shares
H Stehr  75,000,000 Nil 200,000
M Stehr  75,�60,000 �60,000 �00,000

I McLachlan  50,000 50,000 �00,000

T O'Regan  Nil Nil �00,000

P Robinson  �2,500 �2,500 Nil

Directors' Report
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Remuneration Report
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each director of Clean Seas Tuna Limited and for 
the executives receiving the highest remuneration.

Remuneration Policy
The remuneration policy of Clean Seas Tuna Limited has been designed to align director and executive 
objectives with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component as well 
as specific long-term incentives based on key performance areas affecting the company's operations and 
financial results. The Board of Clean Seas believes the remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in 
its ability to attract and retain the best executives and directors to run and manage the company, as well as 
create goal synergies between directors, executives and shareholders. The Boards policy for determining the 
nature and amount of remuneration for Board members and senior executives of the entity is as follows:

 • The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the executive director and senior 
executives, was developed by the remuneration committee and approved by the Board. 

 • All executives receive a base salary, which is determined with reference to experience and responsibilities, 
superannuation, benefits and performance incentives, which may be option or cash based.

• The remuneration committee reviews executive packages annually by reference to the company's 
performance and the executive's performance.

The performance of executives is measured annually against criteria agreed each year with each executive 
and is predominately based on operational outcomes which the Board would expect to translate into 
company profits and shareholder value. Bonuses and incentives are usually linked to predetermined 
performance criteria. The policy is designed to attract the best within the industry area the company 
operates within and reward them for performance that results in long-term growth in shareholder value.

The non-executive directors and executives receive superannuation contributions but do not receive any 
other retirement benefits. All remuneration paid to directors and executives is valued at the cost to the 
company and expensed. Options are valued using a Binomial options model methodology. The executives are 
entitled to participate in the employee share and option arrangement.   

The Board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies 
for time, commitment and responsibilities. The remuneration committee determines payments to the 
non-executive directors and reviews their remuneration annually based on market practice, duties and 
accountability. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors 
is subject to approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. The amount currently 
approved is $300,000 per annum. Fees for non-executive directors are not directly linked to the 
performance of the entity. To align directors interests with shareholders interests, the directors are 
encouraged to hold shares in the company and are able to participate in the company option plans.

Performance Based Remuneration
As part of executive's remuneration package there is a performance based component consisting 
of cash and options for outcomes based events. The intention of this remuneration package is 
to align executive goals with that of the business and shareholders. With respect to the cash 
component, the KPI's are set annually with a certain level of consultation with the executives. The 
measures are specifically tailored to the areas each executive is involved in and has a level of control 
over and are mainly related to production targets that will influence profit and revenue. 

Performance in relation to the KPI's is assessed annually with bonuses being awarded depending on 
the level of achievement against each KPI. Following the assessment, the KPI's are reviewed by the 
remuneration committee in light of desired and actual outcomes and their effeciency assessed in 
relation to the companys goals and shareholder wealth, before the KPI's are set for the following year.

Company Performance, Shareholder Wealth and Directors' and Executives' Remuneration
The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between shareholders 
and directors and executives. There have been two methods applied in achieving this aim, the 
first being a performance based bonus based on KPI's and the second being the issue of options 
to the directors to encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests.

Board and Executive Performance review
Management have regular performance reviews and the Board monitors its performance 
annually against the criteria of it's budget, interaction with key executives and improvements 
in shareholder wealth. Information flow to the Board is unrestricted and comprises detailed 
reports on the company's business as well as copies of key correspondence.

Details of Remuneration for Year Ended 30 June 2006
The remuneration for each director and the � specified executive during the year was as follows:

Directors Salary Directors fees Superannuation Options Total

M Stehr 83,333 0 7,686 8,300 99,3�9

H Stehr 0 50,000 0 �6,600 66,600

T O'Regan 0 37,500 0 8,300 45,800

I McLachlan 0 38,227 3,440 8,300 49,967

Directors fees for H Stehr and T O’Regan were paid to companies associated with the Directors.

The Managing Director, Marcus Stehr, entered into an employment agreement with Clean Seas 
commencing � September 2005. He will be employed for an indefinite period unless the employment 
is terminated in accordance with the agreement. Mr Stehr may terminate the agreement with 6 
months notice and Clean Seas may terminate the agreement immediately without notice for serious or 
persistent breach, defalcation, fraud or willful neglect, incapacitation or mental illness of Mr Stehr. 

If Clean Seas terminates employment for any other cause, Mr Stehr will be entitled to receive 3 months notice or 
payment in lieu thereof.

Specified Base Salary Superannuation KPI Bonus Benefits Options Total 
Executive

M Deichmann ��4,��6 ��,440 �3,000 2�,�83 �2,400 �72,�39

The hatchery manager, Morten Deichmann, entered into an employment agreement with Clean 
Seas commencing � September 2005. He is employed for a term of 3 years unless the employment is 
terminated in accordance with the agreement. Mr Deichmann may terminate the agreement on 6 months 
notice. Clean Seas may terminate the agreement immediately without notice for serious or persistent 
breach, defalcation, fraud or willful neglect, incapacitation or mental illness of Mr Deichmann.

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Directors' Report for the year ended 30 June 2006
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If Clean Seas terminates employment for any other cause, Mr Deichmann will be entitled to receive 
between 6 and �2 months notice or payment in lieu thereof depending upon when termination occurs.

The company is entitled to restrain Mr Deichmann from engaging in competitive conduct 
with the company for a period of up to 2 years after termination of his employment subject to 
the company making certain payments to Mr Deichmann during the restraint period.

He is entitled to receive the following options for the specified production events: 

• �50,000 options when a milestone relating to fertilisation of Southern Bluefin Tuna eggs is achieved, and

• �50,000 options when a milestone relating to transfer of viable Southern Bluefin Tuna fingerlings to sea  
cages is achieved.

Each option has an exercise period of 5 years from the date of grant at an exercise price of $0.50 per option.

Review of Operations
Comments on the current years operations are included in the Chairman's Report and  the 
Managing Director's Report as well other sections throughout this Annual Financial Report.

Corporate Governance
The Board has adopted formal policies with respect to those issues which need its approval and has 
established levels of authority for its senior executives. Such issues of substance are considered by the 
Board with external advice from its professional advisers as required. Commentary on the Corporate 
Governance approach taken by Clean Seas is included in the Corporate Governance section of this report.

Comments on the company's future direction are included in the Chairmans Report and the 
Managing Directors Report, as well other sections throughout this Annual Report.

Directors Benefits 
Except as disclosed in this report, during the current financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to 
receive a benefit, other than remuneration included in the accounts, by reason of a contract made by Clean Seas 
with a Director or a firm of which he is a member or with an entity in which he has a substantial financial interest.

Significant Changes in State of Affairs 
The following significant changes on the state of affairs of the entity occurred during the financial year:

• On 8th September 2005, the company issued 73,250,000 ordinary shares in a share split 
to each shareholder on the basis of 4�.857�4285 shares for every � share held.

• On 6th December 2005, the company issued �8,000,000 ordinary shares via a Prospectus dated  
28th October 2005.

• On 6th December 2005, the company issued �8,000,000 converting notes, that will convert into ordinary 
shares on 30th September 2008, unless converted earlier, via a Prospectus dated 28th October 2005.

Adoption of Australian Equivalents to IFRS
As a result of the introduction of Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), the 
company's financial report has been prepared in accordance with those Standards. A reconciliation of differences 
between previous GAAP and Australian equivalents to IFRS has been included in Note 26 of this report.

After Balance Date Events

On the  4th of July 2006  Clean Seas Tuna Limited signed an agreement to enter into a 60 day due diligence 
period with the aim to purchase all the business assets of South Australian Aquaculture management Pty Ltd 
and its associated companies. This has since been extended to 75 days. The purchase price is expected to be in 
the order of $5m to be settled by the issue of 2.05 million ordinary shares and 2.05 million converting notes at 
9% for $0.50 and the balance in cash.

Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies

Comments on the company's future direction are included in the Chairman's Report and the Managing 
Director's Report, as well other sections throughout this Annual Report.

Environmental Regulation and Performance

Regulated areas of the operation are as follows:

The Arno Bay Hatchery operates under an Aquaculture Landbased Category C License issued by The South 
Australian Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries under the Aquaculture Act 200�. The licensee is required 
to comply with the requirements of all statues, regulations, by-laws, ordinances, rules, notices or orders lawfully 
given pursuant to the Aquaculture Act 200�, Aquaculture Regulations 2005, Environment Protection (Water 
Quality) Policy 2003 and the Livestock Act �997. Clean Seas has not recorded any breaches of license requirements.

Clean Seas operates 2 marine aquaculture licenses issued by The South Australian Minister for Agriculture, 
Food and Fisheries under the Aquaculture Act 200�. The licensee is required to comply with the requirements 
of all statues, regulations, by-laws, ordinances, rules, notices or orders lawfully given pursuant to the 
Aquaculture Act 200�, Aquaculture Regulations 2005, Environment Protection (Water Quality) Policy 
2003 and the Livestock Act �997. Clean Seas has not recorded any breaches of license requirements.

Share Options

As at the date of this report, there were 600,000 unissued ordinary shares under options  
(600,000 at balance date). 

During the year ended 30th June 2006, no ordinary shares were issued on the exercise of options granted 
under the Clean Seas Tuna Limited Employee Share Option Plan. No shares have been issued since that date.

No person entitled to exercise an option had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share 
issue of any body corporates.

  Balance at  Conversion dates Exercise
Granted  Scheme report date from before Price

28/�0/05 Officers 500,000 28/�0/05 27/�0/08 $0.50 4 holders

28/�0/05 Employee �00,000 28/�0/05 27/�0/�0 $0.50 � holder

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers

Under Clause 5� of the company's constitution, each of the company's directors, the Company Secretary 
and every other person who is an officer is indemnified to the extent permitted by law. The terms 
of the insurance contract prohibit the company from disclosing the level of premium paid.

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
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Each Director has entered into a Deed of Indemnity and Access which indemnifies a director 
against liabilities arising as a result of acting as a director subject to certain exclusions and provides 
for related legal costs to be paid by the Company. The Deed requires the Company to maintain 
an insurance policy against any liability incurred by a director in his or her capacity as a director 
during that person's term of office and 7 years thereafter. It also provides a director with a right of 
access to Board papers and other documentation while in office and for 7 years thereafter.

Non-audit Services
The following non-audit services were provided by the company's auditor, Grant Thornton. The 
directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard 
of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act. The nature and scope of each type of 
non-audit service provided means that auditor independenc e was not comprimised. Grant Thornton 
received or are due to receive the following amounts for the provision of non-audit services.

Investigating Accountants Report, October 2005 Prospectus. $20,000

Accounting Advice  $2,250

Auditor's Declaration
The auditor's independence declaration under section 307C of the Corporations 
Act 200� has been received and can be found on page 49.

Rounding of Amounts
The company is an entity to which ASIC Class Order 98/�00 applies and accordingly amounts in the 
financial statements and the directors' report have been rounded off to the nearest $�,000.

Signed in accordance with a Resolution of the Board of Directors.

H. H. Stehr AO 
Chairman 

Signed at Port Lincoln this �� day of September 2006.

•

•

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Income Statement for the year ended 30 June 2006

  Note 2006 2005 
   $ ‘000 $ ‘000

Revenue from continuing operations  3 1,153 774 

Other Income  4 6 -

Gain arising from changes in fair value of grow out 

Kingfish and Mulloway    3,077   -

Employee benefits expense   (622) (36�)

Fish husbandry expense   (2,155)  -   

Depreciation and amortisation expenses  5 (270) (236)

Financial expenses  5 (229) (�)

Other Expenses  (836) (775)

Profit before income tax   124   (599)

Income tax expense  6 (49)  �84 

Net profit attributable to members    75 (4�5)

 Earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company:  

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)  29 0.08 (0.55)

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)  29 0.08  (0.55)

    

20 2�
The above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes on pages 25 to 45.
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 Note 2006 2005 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000

CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash Assets 7  4,993   44 

Receivables 8  945   72�  

Biological Assets 9  4,665   - 

Other

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   10,603  765 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS   

Prepayments 10  50   -   

Property, plant and equipment 11  6,406   2,590 

Deferred tax assets 12  297   4

Biological Assets  13  2,579   2�

Intangible assets 14 450  -

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  9,782 2,6�5 

TOTAL ASSETS  20,385  3,380

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Payables 15  1,275  �09

Borrowings 16  1,909   2,552 

Deferred Grant Income 17  1,527 -

Current tax liabilities   -   - 

Provisions 18  29   22

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   4,740   2,683 

  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Payables   -   - 

Non-Current tax liabilities   -   -

Provisions 19  13  0

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  13   0

TOTAL LIABILITIES   4,753  2,683

NET ASSETS   15,632  697

 

EQUITY  

Issued Capital 20  16,575   �,750

Reserves 21  35   -

Retained earnings  (978) (�,053)

TOTAL EQUITY   15,632   697

     

Statement of changes in equity
   Share Capital 
 Notes Ordinary   Notes Retained  Option  Total 
  Shares  Earnings Reserve

Balance at 30 June 2004   �,750  - (638) -  �,��2 

Profit/(loss) attributable to members  - - (4�8) - (4�8)

Adjustment on change in accounting policy  - -  3  -  3 

Balance at 30 June 2005   �,750   - (�,053)  -   697 

Option reserve on recognition of options issued 21 - - -  35   35 

Profit/(loss) attributable to members  - -  75  -  75 

Shares issued during the year 20  9,000  - - -  9,000 

Transaction costs 20 (�,�40) - - - (�,�40)

Converting notes issued during the year 20 -  6,965  - -  6,965 

Balance at 30 June 2006   9,6�0   6,965  (978)  35   �5,632 

Clean Seas Tuna Limited     
Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2006
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 Note 2006 2005 
  $ ‘000 $ ‘000 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers   712   783

 Receipt from AusIndustry Grant   1,061  - 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (5,095) (�,229)

Dividends received  -   -

Financial income received   272   �

Financial expenses paid  (360) (�)

Income taxes paid   -   -

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 28 (3,410) (446)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for purchase of property, plant and equipment  (4,227) (96)

Payments for purchase of Tuna broodstock  (2,553)  -   

Loans repaid/(received) from associated entities   1,268  (�,9�6)

Proceeds on disposal of non-current assets   -   6 

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (5,512) (2,006)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares and notes   18,000   -

 Payments for costs incurred in Capital Raising  (1,629)  -

 Proceeds from borrowings   3,250   2,500

 Repayment of borrowings  (5,750) (32)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES   13,871   2,468

Net change in cash held   4,949   �6

 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    44   28 

Cash and Cash equivalents at end of the period 4  4,993   44

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006

1  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The financial report is a general purpose financial 
report that has been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, Urgent 
Issues Group Interpretations, other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and the Corporations Act 200�.

The financial report covers the economic 
entity of Clean Seas Tuna Limited. Clean 
Seas Tuna Limited is a listed public company, 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

The financial report of Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
comply with all Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS) in their entirety.

The following is a summary of the material 
accounting policies adopted by the economic 
entity in the preparation of the financial 
report. The accounting policies have been 
consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation
First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards 

Clean Seas Tuna Limited has prepared financial 
statements in accordance with the Australian 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (AIFRS) from � July 2005.

In accordance with the requirements of AASB 
�: First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting Standards, 
adjustments to the accounts resulting from 
the introduction of AIFRS have been applied 
retrospectively to 2005 comparative figures 
excluding cases where optional exemptions 
available under AASB � have been applied. These 
consolidated accounts are the first financial 
statements of Clean Seas Tuna Limited Listed 
Public Limited to be prepared in accordance 
with Australian equivalents to IFRS.

The accounting policies set out below have been 
consistently applied to all years presented. The entity 
has elected to adopt the exemptions available under 
AASB � relating to AASB �32: Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure and Presentation, and AASB �39: Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

This financial report has been prepared in 
accordance with AIFRS. On first time adoption of 
AIFRS, comparatives for the financial year ended 
30 June 2005 are required to be restated with the 
majority of transitional adjustments being made 
retrospectively against national earnings at � July 
2004. The company's balance sheets at 30 June 
2004 and 20 June 2005 did not contain any asset, 
liability or equity balances that required restatement 
under AIFRS. Accordingly the impact of the first time 
adoption of AIFRS was $nil.

(b) Income tax
The economic entity adopts the liability 
method of tax-effect accounting whereby 
the income tax expense is based on the 
profit from ordinary activities adjusted for 
any non-assessable or disallowed items.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance 
sheet liability method in respect of temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the financial statements. No deferred 
income tax will be recognised from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a 
business combination, where there is no effect 
on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the period when the 
asset is realised or liability is settled. Deferred 
tax is credited in the income statement except 
where it relates to items that may be credited 
directly to equity, in which case the deferred 
tax is adjusted directly against equity.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that future tax 
profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised.

The amount of benefits brought to account or 
which may be realised in the future is based 
on the assumption that no adverse change will 
occur in income taxation legislation and the 
anticipation that the economic entity will derive 
sufficient future assessable income to enable 
the benefit to be realised and comply with the 
conditions of deductibility imposed by the law.

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2006
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1  Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies (Continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment 
is carried at cost or fair value less, where 
applicable, any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses.   

Property
Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair 
value (being the amount for which an asset could 
be exchanged between knowledgeable willing 
parties in an arm's length transaction), based on 
periodic, but at least triennial, valuations by external 
independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation 
for buildings.    

Property
Any accumulated depreciation at the date of 
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount is 
restated to the re-valued amount of the asset.

Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost 
basis less depreciation and impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is 
reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not 
in excess of the recoverable amount from these 
assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on 
the basis of the expected net cash flows that 
will be received from the assets employment 
and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash 
flows have been discounted to their present 
values in determining recoverable amounts.

The cost of fixed assets constructed within the 
economic entity includes the cost of materials, 
direct labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate 
proportion of fixed and variable overheads.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the company and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the income statement during the 
financial period in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on 
revaluation of land and buildings are credited 
to a revaluation reserve in shareholders' equity.  
Decreases that offset previous increases of 
the same asset are charged against fair value 
reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are 
charged to the income statement. Each year the 
difference between depreciation based on the 
revalued carrying amount of the asset charged 
to the income statement and depreciation based 
on the asset's original cost is transferred from 
the revaluation reserve to retained earnings.

Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets 
including building and capitalised lease assets, 
but excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a 
straight line basis over their useful lives to the 
economic entity commencing from the time the 
asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements 
are depreciated over the shorter of either the 
unexpired period of the lease or the estimated 
useful lives of the improvements.  

The depreciation rates used for each class of 
depreciable assets are:  

Class of Fixed Asset  Depreciation Rate

Buildings                                                                             2.5%

Plant and equipment                                                    �3.0%

Motor Vehicles                                                               �5.0% 

The assets' residual values and useful lives 
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each balance sheet date.  

An asset's carrying amount is written down 
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount.  

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  
These gains and losses are included in the income 
statement.  When revalued assets are sold, amounts 
included in the revaluation reserve relating to 
that asset are transferred to retained profit.

(d) Financial Instruments Recognition
Financial instruments are initially measured at cost 
on trade date, which includes transaction costs, 
when the related contractual rights or obligations 
exist. Subsequent to initial recognition these 
instruments are measured as set out below.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
A financial asset is classified in this category if 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in 
the short term or if so designated by management. 
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading 
unless they are designated as hedges.  Realised and 
unrealised gains and losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of these assets are included in the 
income statement in the period in which they arise. 

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active 
market and are stated at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.

Financial Liabilities
Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised 
at amortised cost, comprising original debt 
less principal payments and amortisation.

Derivative instruments
Derivative instruments are measured at fair 
value. Gains and losses arising from changes in 
fair value are taken to the income statement 
unless they are designated as hedges.

Fair value
Fair value is determined based on current bid 
prices for all quoted investments. Valuation 
techniques are applied to determine the fair 
value for all unlisted securities, including recent 
arm's length transactions, reference to similar 
instruments and option pricing models.

Impairment
At each reporting date, the entity assesses 
whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial instrument has been impaired. In the 
case of available-for sale financial instruments, 

a prolonged decline in the value of the 
instrument is considered to determine whether 
an impairment has arisen. Impairment losses 
are recognised in the income statement.

(e) Intangibles
Patents and trademarks
Patents and trademarks are recognised at cost 
of acquisition. Patents and trademarks have 
a definite life and are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and any impairment 
losses. Patents and trademarks are amortised 
over their useful life ranging from �5 to 20 years.

Research and development
Expenditure during the research phase of a project 
is recognised as an expense when incurred.  
Development costs are capitalised only when 
technically feasibility studies identify that the 
project will deliver future economic benefits 
and these benefits can be measured reliably.

Development costs have a finite life 
and are amortised on a systematic basis 
matched to the future economic benefits 
over the useful life of the project.

(f) Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, the company reviews the 
carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets 
to determine whether there is any indication 
that those assets have been impaired. If such an 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use, is compared 
to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of 
the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable 
amount is expensed to the income statement.

Impairment testing is performed annually for 
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset, the company 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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1  Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies (Continued)

(g) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances  
Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of the entity is measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which that entity operates. The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Australian dollars which is 
the entity's functional and presentation currency. 

Transaction and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated 
into functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. 
Foreign currency monetary items are translated 
at the period end exchange rate.  Non-monetary 
items measured at historical cost continue to be 
carried at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction.  Non-monetary items measured at 
fair value are reported at the exchange rate at 
the date when fair values were determined.

Exchange differences arising on the translation 
of monetary items are recognised in the income 
statement, except where deferred in equity as a 
qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge.

Exchange difference arising on the translation of 
non-monetary items are recognised directly in 
equity to the extent that the gain or loss is directly 
recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange 
difference is recognised in the income statement.

(h) Employee Benefits
Provision is made for the company's liability for 
employee benefits arising from services rendered 
by employees to balance date. Employee benefits 
that are expected to be settled within one year have 
been measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs. 
Employee benefits payable later than one year have 
been measured at the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. 

(i) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company 
has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result 
of past events, for which it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will result and 
that outflow can be reliably measured.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.  Bank 
overdrafts are shown within short-term-borrowings 
in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(k) Revenue
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised 
upon the delivery of goods to customers. 

 Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional 
basis taking into account the interest 
rates applicable to the financial assets. 

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right 
to receive a dividend has been established. 
Dividends received from associates and joint 
venture entities are accounted for in accordance 
with the equity method of accounting.

Revenue from the rendering of a 
service is recognised upon the delivery 
of the service to the customers.

All revenue is stated net of the amount 
of goods and services tax (GST).

Government Grants relating to the purchase 
of property, plant and equipment are included 
in current and non-current liabilities as 
deferred income and are credited to the 
income statement on a straight line basis over 
the expected lives of the related assets.

(l) Borrowing expenses
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to 
prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to 
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets 
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in 
income in the period in which they are incurred.

(m) Good and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 

•

•

•

•

•

Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are 
shown inclusive of GST. Cash flows are presented 
in the cash flow statement on a net of GST basis, 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Tax Office.

(n) Comparative figures
When required by Accounting Standards, 
comparative figures have been adjusted 
to conform to changes in presentation 
for the current financial year. 

(o) Rounding of amounts
The entity has applied the relief available to it 
under ASIC Class Order 98/�00 and accordingly, 
amounts in the financial report and directors' report 
have been rounded off to the nearest $�,000. 

(p) Biological Assets
Biological assets include fish held 
for sale and broodstock.

Fish held for resale are valued at their fair 
value less estimated point-of-sale costs 
determined as an average sale value in the four 
weeks post balance date.  This value is then 
discounted by a current market determined 
rate that reflects the normal operating risk 
in delivering the fish on hand at balance date 
for sale to the customer at a future date.

Broodstock is valued using the same principles 
detailed above.  The net cash flows from production 
of kingfish and mulloway fingerlings is minimal.  
The southern bluefin tuna broodstock have yet to 
generate positive cashflows.  The directors have 
determined that currently, the cost of broodstock 
best approximated fair value.  This will be reviewed 
annually.  Broodstock will be amortised over their 
effective breeding life commencing when sexual 
maturity is established. The death of  a broodstock 
fish is not reflected as an impairment of the 
assets provided there are sufficient broodstock 
on hand to support the project objectives.

(q) Segment Information

Business segments 
The company has no distinctive business segment 
that is subject to risks and returns that differ from 
other business segments within the company.

Geographical segments
The company operates in the Eyre Peninsula 
in South Australia. This results in there being 
no reportable geographic segment.

2 Financial Risk Management 
The companies activities expose it to a variety 
of financial risks; market risk, credit risk and 
cash flow and interest rate risk. The company 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on  
financial performance.   

Risk management is carried out under the 
management agreement with associated 
entity - Stehr Group. The Board provides 
written principles and policies to cover 
specific areas of risk.  

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial 
transactions are denominated in a foreign currency.

The company sells internationally in the US Dollar 
and the Euro.

Forward contracts transacted by the Stehr Group 
financial management team are used to manage the 
foreign exchange risk.   
     
The Board’s policy is to hedge transaction values 
up to the maximum expected sales for the next 
four months.    

(b) Credit risk
The company has internal policies in place to ensure 
that sales of products are made to customers 
with a good credit risk rating. In conjunction 
with internal credit assessment , a respected 
credit insurance company carries out a credit risk 
rating on all significant customers. Trade credit 
insurance is in place with the same company.

(c) Cash flow and interest rate risk
The company does not operate an overdraft 
facility so it is important to manage the credit 
balances of bank accounts and pursue the 
best return for operating cash. 

The Stehr Group manages cash deposits and 
requirements as part of the management agreement.
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3   Revenue
  2006 2005 
From continuing operations  $ '000 $ '000

Sales Revenue

Sale of fingerlings   289  766

 Sale of fin fish   578  -

   867   766

 

Other revenue   

Interest   286   � 

Other    -     7 

  1,153  774 

4 Other Income        
  2006 2005 
  $ '000 $ '000

Grant income (Note (a))   6   -   

  6   -   

(a) Government grants    
Clean Seas has the funding support of  $4.�5 million via an Ausindustry Commercial Ready Grant for the SBT 
Lifecycle project. Refer to note ( � ) for accounting treatment and the recognition of grant income.

5  Expenses      
  2006 2005 
Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses   $ '000 $ '000 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses

Buildings and dams   112   �0� 

Plant and equipment  152   �29 

Motor Vehicles   6   6

    270  236

 
  

Finance costs

Interest paid/payable   229   � 

  229   � 

6 Income Tax Expense        
  2006 2005 
  $ '000 $ '000 
(a) Income tax expense    
Current tax    147   (�80)

Deferred tax  (98) -

Under (over) provided in prior years  - (4)

  49  (�84)

 
Income tax expense is attributable to :   

Profit from continuing operations   49  (�84)

Aggregate income tax expense   49  (�84)

 
Deferred income tax (revenue) expense included in income tax expense comprises

Decrease (Increase in deferred tax assets 12  372   4 

(Decrease) increase in deferred tax liabilities 12 (470)  -   

  (98)  4

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable   
   

Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense   124  (599)

   124  (599)

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2005 - 30%)   37  (�80)

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income  

Entertainment expense   2   -   

Employee option expense   11   -   

Legal expense   6   -   

   56  (�80)

 
 

Effect of first time adoption of AASB �020 - Accounting for income tax   -    (4)

Prior year tax losses not available   139   -

Prior tax losses recouped  (146)  -

Income tax expense   49  (�84)

 
(c) Amounts recognised directly in equity
 Aggregate current and deferred tax arising in the reporting period and not recognised in net profit or loss but 
directly debited or credited to equity    
    
Current tax - credited directly to equity

Net deferred tax - credited directly to equity (notes �2 and 2� )   426   -

      426   -   

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006



32 33

7 Current Assets - Cash & Cash Equivalents
  2006 2005 
  $'000 $'000 
Cash at bank and in hand   124   44

Deposits at call   4,869  -   

  4,993   44 

 
(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows 
as follows:    
    
Balances as above   4,993  44 

Bank overdrafts   -     -   

Balances per statement of cash flows   4,993  44 

(b) Cash at bank and on hand      
The cash at bank attracts interest on a floating basis. The weighted average effective interest rate was  5.0% 
- 2006  (2.5% - 2005).        

(c) Deposits at call      
The deposits are made on 30 to 90 day periods. The weighted average effective interest rate was  5.5% - 2006   
( Nil - 2005).        

8 Current Assets - Receivables   
  2006 2005 
  $'000 $'000

Trade Receivables   156   -

Provision for doubtful debts   -     -

      156   -

Related party receivables  -    54�   

Other receivables   789   �80

Prepayments   945   72� 

(a) Other receivables

These amounts generally arise from transactions outside the operating activities of the company.  
Interest is not normally charged.

9  Current Assets - Biological Assets 
  2006 2005 
  $'000 $'000 
Current Asset - Fish held for sale    
Carrying amount at beginning of Period   -     -

 Cost of purchase of Juvenile Kingfish and Mulloway  1,587  -   

 Gain arising from physical changes at fair value less estimated point of sale costs  3,078  -

Carrying amount at end of period  4,665  -

10 Non-Current Assets - Prepayments   
  2006 2005 
  $'000 $'000 
Prepaid marina costs  50 -

  50  -   

11  Non-Current Assets - Property, Plant and Equipment    

 Motor Construction in Dams & Freehold land Plant &  Total
 vehicles progress fishponds buildings equipment

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
At 1 June 2004 
Cost 53   - 364   2,089   924   3,430 
Accumulated depreciation (25) - (�6�) (�34) (370) (690)
Net book amount  28   -     203   �,955   554   2,740 
      
Year ended 30 June 2005         
Opening net book amount 28   -     203   �,955   554   2,740 
Additions - - -  56   40   96 
Disposals (�0) - - - - (�0)
Depreciation charge (6) - (48) (53) (�29) (236)
Closing net book amount  �2   -     �55   �,958   465   2,590 
       
At 30 June 2005
Cost 43   -     364   2,�45   964   3,5�6 
Accumulated depreciation (3�)  -    (209) (�87) (499) (926)
Net book amount  �2   -     �55   �,958   465   2,590 
 
Year ended 30 June 2006          
Opening net book amount  �2   -     �55   �,958   465   2,590 
Additions   3,342  -  5�6   228   4,086 
Disposals  -    - - - -  -   
Depreciation charge (6) - (48) (64) (�52) (270)
Closing net book amount  6   3,342   �07   2,4�0   54�   6,406 

At 30 June 2006 
Cost  43   3,342   364   2,66�   �,�92   7,602 
Accumulated depreciation (37)  -    (257) (25�) (65�) (�,�96)
Net book amount 6   3,342   �07   2,4�0   54�   6,406  
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12  Non-Current Assets - Deferred Tax Assets
  2006 2005 
  $'000 $'000 
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:    
Amounts recognised in profit or loss    
Deferred tax assets    
Employee benefits   14   4 
Unearned income   11   - 
Prepayments    5 - 
Tax losses   346   -   
  376   4
  

Deferred tax liabilities    
Inventory  (354)  -
Research and development  (116)  -   
  (470)  - 
Amounts recognised directly in equity   
Equity raising expenses   391   -   
  391   - 
Net deferred tax assets   297   4

Movements :    
Opening balance at � July   4   -

Credited/(charged) to income statement  (98)  4

 Credited/(charged) to equity   391   -   

Closing balance at 30 June   297   4

13  Non-Current Assets - Biological Assets
  2006 2005 
  $'000 $'000 
Research and development expenses    
Fin fish brood stock at cost   2,579  2� 

Amortisation charge  - -   

   2,579  2�

14  Non-Current Assets - Intangible Assets 
 Option  Development  PIRSA  Total  
 Expense  Costs leases  
 $‘000 $‘000 $‘000 $‘000

At 30 June 2005

Cost - - - -

Accumulated depreciation & impairment - - - -

Net book amount  -   -   -   -

Year ended 30 June 2006  

Opening net book amount - - - - 

Additions  25   386   39   450 

Accumulated depreciation & impairment - - - -

Net book amount 25   386   39   450

At 30 June 2006

Cost  25   386   39   450 

Accumulated depreciation & impairment - - - - 

Net book amount 25   386   39   450 

(a) Impairment tests for Tuna propagation development expenses
The costs for the development phase will be accumulated and amortised over the commercialisation phase, 
expected to be 5 to �0 years, unless the project is abandoned at which point the accumulated costs will be 
taken to account.

(b) Impairment test for  PIRSA leases and licences.
The carrying value of this asset is assessed on a yearly basis.

15  Current Liabilities - Payables
  2006 2005 
  $'000 $'000 
Trade payables    580   99 
Related party payables  625  -
Other payables   70   �0 
   1,275  �09 
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16 Current Liabilities - Interest Bearing Liabilities
  2006 2005 
  $'000 $'000 
Bank overdrafts   -     -   
Commercial bills   - 2,500
Converting notes  1,857  -   
SA Government/PIRSA loan   52   52 
  1,909 2,552
 

(a) Converting notes
The converting note amount is the discounted current value of the future note interest payable at 9% .

(b) Interest rate exposure 
Details of the companies exposure to interest rate changes in interest bearing liabilities are set out in note (2)

17   Current Liabilities - Deferred Grant Income

  2006 2005 
  $'000 $'000
Deferred grant income   1,527   -  
     1,527  -

(a) Grant income
Grant income is paid in advance based on budgeted expenditure. Grant income is offset with actual 
expenditure. Residual income is shown as deferred income.

18  Current Liabilities - Provisions
  2006 2005 
  $'000 $'000
Employee benefits   29   22 
  29   22 
 
 
19  Non-Current Liabilities - Provisions
  2006 2005 
  $'000 $'000
Employee benefits   13   -   
  13   - 
  

20  Contributed Equity
 2006 2005 2006 2005 
 Shares Shares $'000 $'000 
(a) Share Capital     
Ordinary shares
Fully paid  93,000,000  �,750,000 9,610 �,750

(b) Other equity securities     
Fully paid 9% converting notes  18,000,000 - 6,965 -

Total contributed equity  111,000,000   �,750,000 16,575 �,750

(c) Movements in ordinary share capital:    

Date Details  Notes Number of  Issue price $'000 
    shares 
�-Jul-2004 Opening balance  (e) �,750,000 $�.00 �,750

8-Sep-2005 Capital reorganisation  (e) 73,250,000  -

30-Jun-2005 Balance   75,000,000  �,750

5-Dec-2005 Share issue  (e) �8,000,000 $0.50 9,000

 Less : Transaction costs arising  on share issue.   (8�5)

 Current tax credit recognised  directly in equity   245

30-Jun-2006 Balance   93,000,000   �0,�80

(d) Movements in 9% converting notes :

Date Details  Notes Number of  Issue price $'000 
    notes 
30-Jun2005 Balance   -  -

5-Dec-2005 9% converting note issue  (f) �8,000,000 $0.50  9,000

 Less : Transaction costs arising on note issue.   (8�4)

 Current tax credit recognised  directly in equity   244

 Less : interest payments on converting notes   (2,035)

30-Jun-2006 Balance   �8,000,000  6,395

 
(e) Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at shareholders' meetings. In the event of a winding up of Clean Seas Tuna 

Limited, ordinary shareholders rank after creditors and are entitled to any proceeds of liquidation.

(f) Converting notes
In accordance with AASB �32, the converting notes have been classified into their component 
parts on initial recognition as a financial liability. The addition to equity has been determined 
as $6,964,996 and the liability portion is represented in borrowings as $�,857,432.
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21  Reserves
  2006 2005 
  $'000 $'000 
Share option reserve
Balance � July  - -

Option expense  35 -

Transfer to capital (options exercised)  - -

Balance 30 June  35   - 

(a) Share option reserve
The share option reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued but not exercised.

22  Key Management Personnel Compensation
(a) Names and positions held are:
Name Position
Mr. Hagen Stehr AO Chairman - non executive
Mr. Marcus Stehr Executive director
Sir Tipene O‘Regan Non-executive director
Mr. Ian McLachlan AO Non-executive director
Mr. Paul Robinson Non-executive director  (alternate for Hagen Stehr)
M Deichmann Hatchery Manager

(b) Compensation Practices
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each director of Clean 
Seas Tuna Limited and for the executives receiving the highest remuneration.

Remuneration Policy
The remuneration policy of Clean Seas Tuna Limited has been designed to align director and executive 
objectives with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component as 
well as specific long-term incentives based on key performance areas affecting the company’s operations 
and financial results. The Board of Clean Seas believes the remuneration policy to be appropriate 
and effective in its ability to attract and retain the best executives and directors to run and manage 
the company, as well as create goal synergies between directors, executives and shareholders.

The Boards policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for 
Board members and senior executives of the entity  is as follows:

• The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the executive director and senior 
executives, was developed by the remuneration committee and approved by the Board. 

• All executives receive a base salary, which is determined with reference to experience and responsibilities, 
superannuation, benefits and performance incentives, which may be option or cash based.

• The remuneration committee reviews executive packages annually by reference 
to the company’s performance and the executive’s performance.

The performance of executives is measured annually against criteria agreed each year with each executive 
and is predominately based on operational outcomes which the Board would expect to translate into 
company profits and shareholder value. Bonuses and incentives are usually linked to predetermined 
performance criteria. The policy is designed to attract the best within the industry area the company 
operates within and reward them for performance that results in long-term growth in shareholder value.

The non-executive directors and executives receive superannuation contributions but do not receive 
any other retirement benefits. All remuneration paid to directors and executives is valued at the cost 
to the company and expensed. Options are valued using a Binomial options model methodology. 
The executives are entitled to participate in the employee share and option arrangement.

The Board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies 
for time, commitment and responsibilities. The remuneration committee determines payments to the 
non-executive directors and reviews their remuneration annually based on market practice, duties and 
accountability. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors 
is subject to approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. The amount currently 
approved is $300,000 per annum. Fees for non-executive directors are not directly linked to the 
performance of the entity. To align directors interests with shareholders interests, the directors are 
encouraged to hold shares in the company and are able to participate in the company option plans.

Performance Based Remuneration
As part of executive’s remuneration package there is a performance based component consisting 
of cash and options for outcomes based events. The intention of this remuneration package is 
to align executive goals with that of the business and shareholders. With respect to the cash 
component, the KPI’s are set annually with a certain level of consultation with the executives. The 
measures are specifically tailored to the areas each executive is involved in and has a level of control 
over and are mainly related to production targets that will influence profit and revenue. 

Performance in relation to the KPI’s is assessed annually with bonuses being awarded depending on 
the level of achievement against each KPI. Following the assessment, the KPI’s are reviewed by the 
remuneration committee in light of desired and actual outcomes and their efficiency assessed in relation 
to the company's goals and shareholder wealth, before the KPI’s are set for the following year.

Company Performance, Shareholder Wealth and Directors’ and Executives’ Remuneration
The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between shareholders 
and directors and executives. There have been two methods applied in achieving this aim, the 
first being a performance based bonus based on KPI’s and the second being the issue of options 
to the directors to encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests.

Board and Executive Performance review
Management have regular performance reviews and the Board monitors its performance 
annually against the criteria of it’s budget, interaction with key executives and improvements 
in shareholder wealth. Information flow to the Board is unrestricted and comprises detailed 
reports on the company’s business as well as copies of key correspondence.

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006

Clean Seas Tuna Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2006



40 4�

22  Key Management Personnel Compensation (Continued)
(c) Key management personnel compensation

Key Management Person
   Short Term Benefits

2006 Salary  KPI Bonus Benefits Directors fees

 $,000 $,000 $,000 $,000

M Stehr  83   -   -   -   

H Stehr  -   -   -   50   

T O‘Regan  -   -   -   38   

I McLachlan  -   -   -   38   

M Deichmann  ��4   �3   2�  -

   �97    �3   2�   �26     

Key Management Person

 Post   
 Employment  Share Based payment 
 benefits

 Super Shares Options Total Performance
         Related  

2006 (cont‘d) $,000 $,000 $,000 $,000 %

M Stehr  8   -   8   99   0  

H Stehr  -   -   �7   67   0   

T O‘Regan  -   -   8   46   0 

I McLachlan  3   -   8   49   0

M Deichmann  �2   -   �2   �72  8%

  23   0   53   433    

Directors fees for H Stehr and T O’Regan were paid to companies associated with the Directors

The Managing Director, Marcus Stehr, entered into an employment agreement with Clean Seas 
commencing � September 2005. He will be employed for an indefinite period unless the employment 
is terminated in accordance with the agreement. Mr Stehr may terminate the agreement with 6 
months notice and Clean Seas may terminate the agreement immediately without notice for serious or 
persistent breach, defalcation, fraud or willful neglect, incapacitation or mental illness of Mr Stehr. 

If Clean Seas terminates employment for any other cause, Mr Stehr will be entitled to receive 3 months notice or 
payment in lieu thereof.

The hatchery manager, Morten Deichmann, entered into an employment agreement with Clean 
Seas commencing � September 2005. He is employed for a term of 3 years unless the employment is 
terminated in accordance with the agreement. Mr Deichmann may terminate the agreement on 6 months 
notice. Clean Seas may terminate the agreement immediately without notice for serious or persistent 
breach, defalcation, fraud or willful neglect, incapacitation or mental illness of Mr Deichmann.

If Clean Seas terminates employment for any other cause, Mr Deichmann will be entitled to receive 
between 6 and �2 months notice or payment in lieu thereof depending upon when termination occurs.

The company is entitled to restrain Mr Deichmann from engaging in competitive conduct 
with the company for a period of up to 2 years after termination of his employment subject to 
the company making certain payments to Mr Deichmann during the restraint period.

He is entitled to receive the following options for the specified production events:

• �50,000 options when a milestone relating to fertilisation of Southern Bluefin Tuna eggs is achieved.

 • �50,000 options when a milestone relating to transfer of viable Southern  Bluefin Tuna fingerlings to sea 
cages is achieved.

(d) Compensation Options
(i) Options granted as compensation

Details of options over ordinary shares in the company provided as remuneration to each director and specified 
executive. When exercisable , each option is convertible into one ordinary share in Clean Seas Tuna Limited.

Key  Vested No. Granted No. Grant Date Value  Exercise First  Last 
Management    Per Option at Price Exercise Exercise 
Personnel    Grant Date  Date Date 

H Stehr Nil �00,000 28 Oct 2005  �6,600  $0.50 5 Dec 2006 27 Oct 2008

M Stehr Nil 200,000 28 Oct 2005  8,300  $0.50 5 Dec 2006 27 Oct 2008

T O‘Regan Nil �00,000 28 Oct 2005  8,300  $0.50 5 Dec 2006 27 Oct 2008

I McLachlan Nil �00,000 28 Oct 2005  8,300  $0.50 5 Dec 2006 27 Oct 2008

M Deichmann �00,000 �00,000 28 Oct 2005  �2,400  $0.50 28 Oct 2005 27 Oct 20�0 

 �00,000 600,000   53,900   

All options vest within one year of grant date and expire within three to five years of vesting. Options are 
granted to key management personnel with more than one years full-time service. 
Exercise price equals the market price at date of the grant. 
All options were granted for nil consideration.
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23  Remuneration of Auditors
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditors:

(a) Assurance services
1. Audit services 
Grant Thornton     
  2006 2005

  $‘000 $‘000

Audit and review of financial reports and other   36   5 
audit work under the corporations act 200�   

2. Other assurance services 
Grant Thornton
Accounting services   2  -

Investigating accounts report   20  -

Total remuneration for audit services   58   5

24  Contingencies         
Contingent liabilities
(i) The Treasurer of the State of South Australia has a registered charge over the Company to the value of 

$275,000. The charge secures a claim that would arise in the event that the Company was in breach 
of the conditions attaching to a grant received. The Company is not aware of any breach or claim.

(ii) Clean Seas has entered into a Commercial Ready Grant Agreement with the Commonwealth of Australia 
acting through the Department of Industry, Tourism and Resources. The parties acknowledge that the 
giving of the Grant for the purposes of the closure of the life-cycle of southern bluefin tuna project is 
intended to deliver substantial national benefit to Australia and as such the company has agreed to use 
its best endeavours to ensure that the planned outcomes for the Project as specified in the agreement 
are achieved and that the Project, or its outcome, is commercialised on normal commercial terms and 
within a reasonable time of completion of the Project. The company must immediately notify the 
Commonwealth if at any time it believes its capacity to achieve the planned outcomes is compromised 
or it wishes to commercialise the Project, or its outcomes, other than in accordance with the Agreement 
specifications. If these requirements are not met, the Commonwealth may require the company to repay 
some or all of the Grant paid to the company, together with interest at a rate of 5.�85% per annum.

25  Commitments
(a) Capital commitments    
Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

  2006 2005
  $‘000 $‘000

Property, plant and equipment

Payable : 

Within one year   2,558   - 

   2,558   - 

(a) Property, plant and equipment
The Tuna broodstock facility is due for completion at the end of September 2006. 

26  Related Party Transactions
(a) Parent entities
The term Stehr Group in these accounts is a collective reference to a number of private companies in the Santa 
Anna Tuna Fisheries Pty Ltd group. These companies are Stehr Group Pty Ltd, Australian Tuna Fisheries Pty Ltd 
and Clean Seas Aquaculture Growout Pty Ltd.  The major shareholder of Clean Seas Tuna Limited is Australian 
Tuna Fisheries Pty Ltd., which at 30 June 2006 owned 80% of the issued ordinary shares. Companies in the Stehr 
Group administer the operations of Clean Seas Tuna per the Administration and Husbandry agreements in place.
   
(b) Key management personnel   
Disclosures relating to directors and specified executives are set out in note (22)

(c) Transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:    
  2006 2005

  $‘000 $‘000

Sales of goods and services

Sale of fingerlings to commonly controlled entity   289   7�7 

Purchase of goods and services

Management fee paid to parent entity   104   �00 

Income tax credit transferred to parent company   138   �80 

Grow out fee paid to commonly controlled entity   2,156  -

Fin fish purchased from commonly controlled entity   1,587  -

Purchase of broodstock from commonly controlled entity   2,553   -   

Rent paid to associates   15  -

Capital raising advisory fee paid to director related company   127   -

Purchase of cages, nets and anchors from parent company   100   -

Purchase of Aquaculture lease from   39   -   

Loans from related parties   

Loans advanced from:   

Parent entity  -  �,266

Loans repaid to:

Parent entity  -  2,500 
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26  Related Party Transactions (Continued)
(d) Outstanding balances    
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties:  

  2006 2005
  $‘000 $‘000

Current receivables
Parent company  -  54� 

Current payables (purchase of goods & services)
Parent entity  625 -

            
27  Events Occurring After Balance Sheet Date      
(a) Acquisition of South Australian Aquaculture Management Pty Ltd (SAAM) assets
On the  4th of July 2006  Clean Seas Tuna Limited signed an agreement to enter into a 60 day due diligence 
period with the aim to purchase all the business assets of South Australian Aquaculture management Pty Ltd 
and its associated companies. This has since been extended to 85 days. The purchase price is expected to be in 
the order of $5m to be settled by the issue of 2.05 million ordinary shares and 2.05 million converting notes at 
9% for $0.50 and the balance in cash.

28  Reconciliation of Profit After Income Tax to Net Cash Inflow From Operating Activities 
  2006 2005

  $‘000 $‘000

Profit for the year   75  (4�5)

Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating activities :

Depreciation and amortisation    270    236 

Finance costs on convertible notes  (178) -

Share based payments   35   - 

Receivable from Stehr Group for tax losses  (138)  -   

Development costs capitalised  (386) -

Net (gain)/loss on sale on non-current assets  -  4 

(Gain)/loss in fair value of biological assets  (4,664)  �0

Change in operating assets and liabilities:   -   - 

Decrease/(Increase) in trade receivables  (152)  �0 

Decrease/(Increase) in other receivables  (90) -

Decrease/(Increase) in future income tax benefit   208  (�83)

Decrease/(Increase) in other operating assets   -    (�72)

(Decrease)/Increase in trade creditors   474   53 

(Decrease)/Increase in other creditors   45   -   

(Decrease)/Increase in provisions   35   �� 

Decrease/(Increase) in intangibles   -  -   

(Decrease)/Increase in deferred grant income   1,056   -   

(Decrease)/Increase converting notes   -    - 

Net cash inflow from operating activities  (3,410) (446)

29  Earnings Per Share
  2006 2005 
  $ '000 $ '000 
(a) Basic earnings per share (cents/share) 

Profit from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary  
equity holders of the company  0.08 (0.55)

 
(b) Diluted earnings per share (cents/share) 

Profit from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary  
equity holders of the company  0.08 (0.55)

(c) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share    
  2006 2005 
  $ '000 $ '000 
Basic earnings per share    
Profit from continuing operations   75  (4�5)

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company  
used in calculating basic earnings per share  75  (4�5)

Diluted earnings per share 
Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company  
used in calculating basic earnings per share  75  (4�5)

Interest saving on converting notes   -   - 
Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company  
used in calculating diluted earnings per share   75  (4�5)

 
(d) Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator  
Number for basic earnings per share   95,416,438   75,000,000 

Effect of potential ordinary shares   406,027   - 

Number for diluted earnings per share   95,822,465   75,000,000 

 
(e) Information concerning the classification of securities 
(i) Options  
Options granted under the Employee and Officers option plan are considered to be potential ordinary shares 
and have been included in the determination of the diluted earnings per share to the extent that they are 
dilutive. The options have not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share.  
 

(ii) Converting notes  
The converting notes issued during the year are considered to be potential ordinary 
shares and have been included in the determination of basic earnings per share.
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The directors of the company declare that:
� The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 2� to 45, are in accordance with the | 

Corporations Act 200� and:

 a.  comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 200� and:

 b.  give a true and fair view of the financial position of the entity as at 30th    
 June 2006 and of the performance for the year ended on that date.

2 This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in 
accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 200� for the financial year ended 30th June 2006. 

3 In the directors' opinion, as at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe 
that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Mr. H. H. Stehr AO
Chairman

Signed at Port Lincoln this �� day of September 2006.

Clean Seas Tuna Limited     
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Clean Seas Tuna Limited   
ASX Additional Information

Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange 
Limited  Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this report is set 
out below:

Distribution of Equity Shareholders as at 21 August 2006
   Number of equity security holders
Category Ordinary Converting Options 
 shares notes  
� - �,000 �8 3 
�,00� - 5,000 263 �30
5,00� - �0,000 �96 �50
�0,00� - �00,000 223 2�3 5
�00,00� - and over �� �5 �
 7�� 5�� 6

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable  
parcel of securities at 2� August 2006 was Ordinary shares (4) , 
converting notes (�).

Twenty Largest Shareholders by Class of Security  
as at 21 August 2006:    

Ordinary Shares
 Number of ordinary
 shares held percentage
AUSTRALIAN TUNA FISHERIES PTY LTD 75,000,000 80.6%
BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED   2,450,000 2.6%
NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 2,000,000 2.2%
ANZ NOMINEES LIMITED   �,70�,7�3 �.8%
BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED   640,500 0.7%
BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED   587,�00 0.6%
EQUITY TRUSTEES LIMITED  290,000 0.3%
AUSTRALIAN EXECUTOR TRUSTEES LIMITED  207,000 0.2%
MRS MARGARET MARY MARTIN 200,000 0.2%
FESBOW PTY LTD 200,000 0.2%
BRANKA NOMINEES PTY LIMITED �50,000 0.2%
MR MICHAEL DACRES-MANNINGS   �20,000 0.�%
MRS KAREN ELDER & MR CALLUM ELDER �00,000 0.�%
GIUSEPPINA FISHING COMPANY �00,000 0.�%
MS ANNA STEHR �00,000 0.�%
CLYBURN SUPERANNUATION PTY LTD   �00,000 0.�%
DAVAMBROS PTY LTD  �00,000 0.�%
MR NICK BOLKUS & MS MARY PATETSOS �00,000 0.�%
MR NICHOLAS GUY TAYLOR   �00,000 0.�%
LANGBURGH PTY LTD   �00,000 0.�%
 84,346,3�3 90.7%
 93,000,000 

Twenty Largest Shareholders by Class of Security  
as at 21 August 2006 (Continued):

Converting Notes

 Number of converting
 notes held percentage
BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED   2,450,000 �3.6%
NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 2,000,000 ��.�%
ANZ NOMINEES LIMITED  �,622,000 9.0%
BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED  673,000 3.7%
BOND STREET CUSTODIANS LIMITED   565,000 3.�%

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES  
(AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 400,000 2.2%
MRS KAREN ELDER & MR CALLUM ELDER 266,000 �.5%
AUSTRALIAN EXECUTOR TRUSTEES LIMITED   258,000 �.4%
MRS MARGARET MARY MARTIN 200,000 �.�%
FESBOW PTY LTD 200,000 �.�%
MS ROSEMARY HAVILL NORMAN 200,000 �.�%
FOGBELL NOMINEES PTY LTD   �80,000 �.0%
EQUITY TRUSTEES LIMITED   �40,000 0.8%
MR MICHAEL DACRES-MANNINGS   �20,000 0.7%
PRIS-MATIC PTY LTD �07,000 0.6%
GIUSEPPINA FISHING COMPANY �00,000 0.6%
MS ANNA STEHR �00,000 0.6%
CLYBURN SUPERANNUATION PTY LTD  �00,000 0.6%
DAVAMBROS PTY LTD   �00,000 0.6%
MR NICK BOLKUS & MS MARY PATETSOS �00,000 0.6%
 9,88�,000 54.9%
 �8,000,000 

The twenty largest shareholders held 93,830,3�3 shares equal  
to 84.5% of the  ���,000,000 shares and converting notes.

Substantial Shareholders
The number of shares held by substantial shareholders and their 
 associates as listed in the Company's register of substantial 
shareholders as at 2� August 2006 was:

 Number of shares held
Australian Tuna Fisheries Pty Ltd    75,000,000  
  
On Market Buy Back  
There is no current on market buy back.

Clean Seas Tuna Limited   
ASX Additional Information
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Hagen Stehr

Offices and Officers
Share Registry
Registries Limited
Level 2, 28 Margaret St
Sydney, NSW 2000
T. 02 9290 9600
F. 02 9279 0664
E. registries@registries.com.au
www.registriesltd.com.au

Registered Office
7 North Quay Blvd
Port Lincoln SA 5606
T. 08 8683 4�96
F. 08 8682 5090
E. reception@stehrgroup.net
www.cleanseastuna.com.au

Company Secretary
Frank Knight

Voting Rights
The voting rights attaching to each 
class of security are set out below:
• Ordinary shares
 - On a show of hands every  

 member present at a meeting  
 in person or by proxy shall  
 have one vote and upon a poll  
 each share shall have one vote.

• 9% convertible notes
 -  No voting rights.
• Options
 -  No voting rights. 

Stock Exchange
The companies securities listed on are 
the Australian Stock Exchange. The 
home exchange is Adelaide.

Direct Payments to total issued to 
Shareholders Accounts
Dividends and interest may be paid 
directly to bank, building society or 
credit union accounts in Australia.
Payments are electronically 
credited on the dividend date and 
confirmed by mailed payment 
advice. Shareholders who want their 
payments made in this manner should 
advise the Company’s share registry 
in writing.

Shareholders Enquiries/Change of 
Address
Shareholders wishing to enquire 
about their shareholdings, dividends 
or change their address should 
contact the Company's Share register. 

Other Information
Clean Seas Tuna Limited, incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia, 
is a publicly listed company 
limited by shares.
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PO Box �59 
Port Lincoln 
SA  5606 
ABN 6� 094 380 435

www.cleanseastuna.com.au


